Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf

Zentrum für Molekulare Neurobiologie Hamburg Institut für Biosynthese neuraler Strukturen Direktorin: Frau Prof. Dr. Melitta Schachner

Influence of brief electrical stimulation on peripheral nerve regeneration in heterozygous trkB deficient mice

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg

vorgelegt von:

Marvin Henze aus Hamburg

Hamburg 2012

Angenommen von der Medizinischen Fakultät am: 12.09.2012

Veröffentlicht mit der Genehmigung der medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg

Prüfungsausschuss, die/der Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Melitta Schachner

Prüfungsausschuss, 2. Gutachter/in:

Prof. Dr. Gabriele Rune

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
	1.1 Cellular and molecular response after peripheral nerve injury	2
	1.1.1 Changes in the neuronal cell body	3
	1.1.2 Changes in the proximal nerve segment	
	1.1.3 Changes in the distal nerve segment	
	1.1.4 Regeneration of peripheral nerves	4
	1.2 Regeneration-associated molecules	5
	1.2.1 The neurotrophin family	5
	1.2.2 Brain derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-4/5	6
	1.2.3 Tyrosine kinase B receptor	7
	1.2.4 Tyrosine kinase B receptor deficient mice	
	1.3 Electrical stimulation and peripheral nerve regeneration	9
	1.4 The femoral nerve model	
	1.5 Preferential motor reinnervation	11
2.	Rationale and aim of the study	12
3.	Material and Methods	
	3.1 Animals	13
	3.2 Surgical procedure and electrical stimulation	13
	3.3 Analysis of motor function	16
	3.3.1 Video recording and measurements	
	3.3.2 Parameters of functional recovery	17
	3.3.2.1 Heels-tail angle	18
	3.3.2.2 Foot-base angle	
	3.3.2.3 Limb protraction length ratio	

3.3.2.4 Recovery indices	
3.3.2.4.1 Heels-tail angle, Foot-base angle and Pro	traction length
ratio recovery index	
3.3.2.4.2 Stance recovery index	
3.3.2.5 Stance deficit	
3.3.2.5.1 Heels-tail angle stance deficit	
3.3.2.5.2 Foot-base angle stance deficit	
3.3.2.5.3 Cumulative stance deficit	
3.4 Retrograde labelling of motoneurons	
3.5 Transcardial perfusion and tissue preparation	
3.6 Morphological analysis of the spinal cord sections	
3.7 Photographic documentation	
3.8 Statistical analysis	
4. Results	
4.1 Functional recovery	
4.1.1 Heels-tail angle	
4.1.2 Foot-base angle	
4.1.3 Limb protraction length ratio	
4.1.4 Recovery indices	
4.1.4.1 Heels-tail angle recovery index	
4.1.4.2 Foot-base angle recovery index	
4.1.4.3 Stance recovery index	
4.1.4.4 Limb protraction length ratio recovery index	
4.1.5 Stance deficit	
4.1.5.1 Heels-tail angle stance deficit	
4.1.5.2 Foot-base angle stance deficit	
4.1.5.3 Cumulative stance deficit	
4.1.6 Summary	
4.2 Morphological evaluation of reinnervation	
4.3 Co-variation of recovery indices and structural parameters	

5.	Discussion	42
	5.1 Functional recovery	43
	5.2 Axonal regeneration and preferential motor reinnervation	45
	5.3 Co-variation of functional and structural parameters	47
	5.4 Potential mechanisms of electrical stimulation and their relationship to trkB	47
	5.5 Perspective	49

6. Summary	50
7. References	51
8. Abbreviations	67
9. Acknowledgements	70
10. Curriculum Vitae	71
11. Eidesstattliche Versicherung	72

1. Introduction

Trauma, compression, entrapment and ischemia are the most common causes of peripheral nerve injury (Valls-Sole et al. 2010). Despite surgical nerve repair, functional recovery after peripheral nerve injuries is often insufficient (Frostick et al. 1998, Gordon et al. 2003, Lundborg 2003, Lundborg and Rosen 2007, Robinson 2000). First of all, peripheral nerve regeneration requires survival of the neurons after axonal injury, which depends on the following factors: (1) type of neuron, (2) age, (3) degree of injury and (4) distance of the lesion site to the neuronal cell body (for review see Fu and Gordon 1997, Hart et al. 2008). After axonal damage, as a rule more sensory than motor neurons degenerate and adult neurons are more resistant to injury than neonatal neurons. Degree and severity of peripheral nerve injury are linked to neuronal survival and functional recovery (Burnett and Zager 2004). Neurons injured close to the neuronal cell body are more distally.

Multiple causes influencing functional recovery after peripheral nerve regeneration have been identified previously: (1) Staggered reinnervation of the distal nerve stump after axonal injury and a limited time period of regeneration support by the environment, including neurotrophic support by Schwann cells (Fenrich and Gordon 2004, Gordon 2009, Gordon et al. 2008, 2009 a). (2) Inappropriate target reinnervation (Brushart 1988, Guntinas-Lichius et al. 2007 a), (3) cortical reorganizations (Lundborg 2003) and (4) polyneuronal innervation of muscle fibres (Guntinas-Lichius et al. 2007 a).

Various approaches have been used to improve neuronal regeneration and functional recovery after axonal injury. For instance, brief electrical stimulation (for review see Gordon et al. 2007, 2008, 2009 a, b), exercise (Asensio-Pinilla et al. 2009, English et al. 2009, 2011, Sabatier et al. 2008, Seo et al. 2009), manual stimulation (Angelov et al. 2007, Bischoff et al. 2009, Guntinas-Lichius et al. 2007 b, Irintchev et al. 2010, Kiryakova et al. 2010, Skouras et al. 2009) as well as application of peptides which functionally mimic glycan moieties (Mehanna et al. 2009, 2010, Simova et al. 2006).

1.1 Cellular and molecular response after peripheral nerve injury

After injury to a peripheral nerve, characteristic histological and molecular changes are observed in the (1) neuronal cell body, the (2) proximal nerve stump and the (3) distal stump (Fig. 1) (for review see Burnett and Zager 2004, Chen et al. 2007, Frisen 1997, Frostick et al. 1998, Fu and Gordon 1997, Geuna et al. 2009).



Figure 1. Morphological responses to a peripheral nerve injury (b-e). Intact peripheral nerve (a). Injury to a peripheral nerve causes chromatolysis of the neuronal cell body, a die-back of the proximal nerve stump and Wallerian degeneration of the distal nerve stump (b). Sprouts of axonal branches passing the interstump zone and entering the bands of Büngner (c) to complete end organ reinnervation and reversal of chromatolysis of the neuronal cell body (d). Amputation neuroma after failure of end organ reinnervation (e, adapted from Schiebler 2005).

1.1.1 Changes in the neuronal cell body

A few hours after peripheral nerve injury, the neuronal cell body undergoes morphological changes known as chromatolysis. These include: (1) swelling of the cell body and nucleus, (2) migration of the nucleus to the periphery of the cell body, and (3) dissolution of the rough endoplasmic reticulum (Fig. 1b, Burnett and Zager 2004, Fu and Gordon 1997, Geuna et al 2009) and reflect the molecular changes after peripheral nerve injury due to enhancement of protein and mRNA synthesis of regeneration-associated genes (RAG). Neurons surviving axonal injury switch from a transmitting to a growth mode (Fu and Gordon 1997). Genes taking part in neurotransmission like choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) are down-regulated, while RAGs, e.g. encoding for the growth-associated protein 43 (GAP-43) and cytoskeletal proteins like actin and tubulin, are upregulated (Fu and Gordon 1997, Geuna et al. 2009).

1.1.2 Changes in the proximal nerve segment

After injury of a peripheral nerve, the proximal nerve stump degenerates back. The extent of this degeneration depends on the severity of the nerve injury. Axonal degeneration is usually limited to the first internodal segment (Fig. 1b, Burnett and Zager 2004, Geuna et al. 2009).

1.1.3 Changes in the distal nerve segment

The responses in the distal nerve stump after axonal damage had been first described by August Waller in 1850 (reprinted in Stoll et al. 2002). These responses, collectively known as Wallerian degeneration, include: (1) Axon degeneration and phagocytosis of axon and myelin debris, (2) Schwann cells switching from a myelinating to non-myelinating mode and (3) aligning of Schwann cells into guiding columns (bands of Büngner) (Fig. 1b, Fu and Gordon 1997). After axonal damage, the

injured axon disintegrates. The loss of axonal contact causes Schwann cell proliferation (Geuna et al. 2009) and a switch to a growth-supportive mode and down-regulation of myelin protein synthesis (Fu and Gordon 1997). Proliferating Schwann cells and macrophages invade the lesion site to phagocytise cellular and myelin debris. This can take up to 3-6 weeks (Geuna et al. 2009). Proliferating Schwann cells also line up as guiding columns (bands of Büngner) to support target reinnervation by up-regulation of regeneration-associated molecules (Fig. 1c). These include, e.g. transcription factors, cell adhesion molecules, neurotrophic factors and their receptors (Fu and Gordon 1997).

1.1.4 Regeneration of peripheral nerves

After axonal die-back in the proximal nerve stump (Fig. 1b, Fu and Gordon 1997) the axonal basal laminae persist and serve as guiding structures for sprouting axons. Axonal sprouts begin to access the endoneurial tubes distal to the injury site 3-42 days after nerve trauma (Fig. 1c, Geuna et al. 2009). Every axon can form up to 50-100 sprouting branches, which mostly degenerate later on. A regeneration unit (Morris et al. 1972) of about five of these sprouting branches, sent by one proximal axon, enters one endoneurial tube of the distal nerve stump (bands of Büngner) after passing the interstump zone (Geuna et al. 2009) and eventually end organ contact is achieved (Fig. 1c). Schwann cells of the distal nerve stump influences target reinnervation by upregulation of regeneration-associated molecules that create a supportive growth environment in the distal nerve stump (Fu and Gordon 1997). After target reinnervation only one of the regeneration unit axons survives, while the other ones degenerate. Months after successful peripheral nerve regeneration, a reversal of chromatolysis can be observed. The nucleus returns to the centre of the neuronal cell body and the rough endoplasmic reticulum reorganizes to compact Nissl granules (Burnett and Zager 2004), including a switch from regenerative growth mode back to a transmitting mode (Fig. 1d).

1.2 Regeneration-associated molecules

Regeneration-associated molecules are up-regulated after peripheral nerve injury by the lesioned neurons and by proliferating Schwann cells to promote axonal regeneration and enable end organ reinnervation. These molecules include, e.g. neurotrophic factors and adhesion molecules (Fu and Gordon 1997). Neurotrophic factors are categorized in three groups: (1) the neurotrophin family, (2) the GDNF (glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor) family and (3) neuropoetic cytokines (Boyd and Gordon 2003).

1.2.1 The neurotrophin family

Four members belong to the neurotrophin family in mammals: (1) nerve growth factor (NGF), (2) brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), (3) neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) and (4) neurotrophin-4/5 (NT-4/5, Barbacid 1994, Boyd and Gordon 2003, Chao 2003, Cui 2006). In fish, neurotrophin-6 (NT-6) and neurotrophin-7 (NT-7) have been also described (Götz et al. 1994, Lai et al. 1998). The neurotrophins regulate neuronal cell survival, axonal and dendritic growth and guidance, synaptic structure and connections, neurotransmitter release, long-term potentiation and synaptic plasticity (Boyd and Gordon 2001, Chao 2003). All members of the neurotrophin family are non-covalent homodimers (Yano and Chao 2000). Neurotrophins mediate their effects via multiple high- and a low-affinity receptors. High-affinity receptors are tyrosine receptor kinase A (trkA), tyrosine receptor kinase B (trkB) and tyrosine receptor kinase C (trkC). These belong to the tyrosin receptor kinase (trk) family and bind to their ligands with relatively high specificity (Fig. 2): (1) NGF binds to trkA (Kaplan et al. 1991 a, b, Klein et al. 1991 a), (2) BDNF and NT-4/5 bind to trkB (Klein et al. 1991 b, Klein et al. 1992) and (3) NT-3 binds to trkC (Lamballe et al. 1991). All neurotrophins can bind to the low-affinity p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75^{NTR}), which is a member of the tumour necrosis family receptors (Yano and Chao 2000). P75^{NTR} binding by neurotrophins was

shown to induce apoptosis, on one hand, and to modulate trk activation by ligand binding associated with trk, on the other hand (Barker 1998). P75^{NTR} is up-regulated in the distal nerve stump after axonal injury (Heumann et al. 1987) and is involved in remyelination after regeneration (Song et al. 2006). Inhibitory effects after application of high doses of BDNF on peripheral nerve regeneration are mediated by p75^{NTR} (Boyd and Gordon 2001, 2002, 2003, Gordon et al. 2003). Increased motoneuron survival and peripheral nerve regeneration was observed previously in p75^{NTR}-/- mice (Ferri et al. 1998, Boyd and Gordon 2001).



Figure 2. Neurotrophins and their high affinity binding receptors as well as their low affinity receptor $p75^{NTR}$ (adopted from Chao 2003).

1.2.2 Brain derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-4/5

The member of the neurotrophin family BDNF was discovered in 1982 (Barde et al. 1982, Leibrock et al. 1989). Since its identification, numerous observations have shown that BDNF is involved in peripheral nerve regeneration (for review see Boyd and Gordon 2003, Cui 2006, Lykissas et al. 2007, Gordon 2009). The BDNF synthesis is upregulated in motoneurons after axonal injury (Funakoshi et al. 1993, Kobayashi et al. 1996, Meyer et al. 1992) and this up-regulation promotes motoneuron survival

(Koliatsos et al. 1993, Oppenheim et al. 1992, Sendtner et al. 1992, Yan et al. 1992). Application of antibodies neutralizing BDNF or high doses of BDNF impedes axonal regeneration (Zhang et al. 2000, Boyd and Gordon 2002). The inhibitory effect of high BDNF doses is supposed to be mediated by p75^{NTR} (Boyd and Gordon 2001, 2002, 2003, Gordon et al. 2003). Application of low doses of BDNF has no effect on axonal regeneration after immediate nerve repair (Boyd and Gordon 2002), while BDNF promotes axonal regeneration after delayed suture (Boyd and Gordon 2003). Upregulation of BDNF synthesis is also observed in denervated Schwann cells (Meyer et al. 1992, Zhang et al. 2000) and brief electrical stimulation of a peripheral nerve after axonal transection and immediate nerve repair promotes up-regulation of BDNF synthesis in injured motoneurons and enhances axonal outgrowth into the distal nerve stump (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a, b).

NT-4/5 was identified in 1991 as a new member of the neutrophin family (Hallböök et al. 1991) and it is, like BDNF, up-regulated in the distal nerve stump after axonal injury (Funakoshi et al. 1993). Application of NT-4/5 after peripheral nerve injury improves axonal regeneration (Yin et al. 2001, Simon et al. 2003) and is necessary for axonal outgrowth (English et al. 2005).

1.2.3 Tyrosine kinase B receptor

TrkB belongs to the tyrosine kinase receptor family and has been named after the proto-oncogene tropomyosin-related kinase, that has led to its discovery (Huang and Reichardt 2003). TrkB has a molecular weight of 145 kD (Klein et al. 1989) and mediates BDNF and NT-4/5 effects (Klein et al. 1991 b, Klein et al. 1992). Ligand binding causes receptor dimerization and autophosphorylation of activation loop tyrosine residues (Barbacid 1995, Reichardt 2006). After phosphorylation of additional tyrosine residues, docking sites for adaptor proteins are formed (Huang and Reichardt 2003, Reichardt 2006, Yano and Chao 2000). The adaptor proteins contain phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) or src-homology-2 (SH2) domains (Huang and Reichardt 2003) and modulate receptor signalling. The following intracellular

downstream pathways can be activated via the trkB receptor: (1) the ras/ERK kinase, (2) the PI-3/Akt kinase and (3) the PLC- γ pathway (Kaplan and Miller 2000, Huang and Reichardt 2003, Reichardt 2006).

Two truncated trkB isoforms lacking the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain are known (Middlemas et al. 1991). These truncated isoforms seem to reduce axonal outgrowth by binding BDNF and removing it from the growth promoting environment of the distal nerve stump (Fryer et al. 1997). The truncated as well as the full-length trkB receptors are expressed in numerous structures of the central and the peripheral nervous system (Barbacid 1994). After axotomy, full-length trkB receptor expression in motoneurons is upregulated (Kobayashi et al. 1996, Hammarberg et al. 2000) and brief electrical stimulation was shown to accelerate trkB as well as BDNF expression (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a). No up-regulation of truncated trkB receptors was found in the distal nerve stump after axonal injury (Frisen et al. 1993, Funakoshi et al. 1993, Sebert and Shooter 1993). Reduced expression of trkB in heterozygous trkB mice leads to impairment of motor axonal regeneration (Boyd and Gordon 2001) and worse functional recovery after nerve injury compared with wild-type littermates (Eberhardt et al. 2006, Irintchev at al. 2005). Further investigation have indicated a functional relationship between trkB and the cell adhesion molecule NCAM (neural cell adhesion molecule, Cassens et al. 2010), which is involved in neuronal regeneration (Fey et al. 2010).

1.2.4 Tyrosine kinase B receptor deficient mice

Homozygous trkB deficient mice (trkB-/-) die within the first postnatal week and, thus, cannot be used in regeneration research. These animals show, among other deficits, loss of trigeminal, petrosal and dorsal root ganglion sensory neurons as well as loss of facial and spinal motoneurons (Barbacid 1994, Klein et al. 1993). In contrast, heterozygous trkB mice (trkB+/-) which are vital and do not show apparent structural deficits have been successfully used in several experimental settings (Boyd and Gordon 2001, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Kotulska et al. 2006 a, b, 2007, Xu et al. 2000 a, b).

1.3 Electrical stimulation and peripheral nerve regeneration

Application of DC currents in vitro and in vivo as well as pulsed electromagnetic fields have been used to influence neurite outgrowth and nerve regeneration in different experimental settings (Hinkle et al. 1981, Politis et al. 1988, Kerns and Lucchinetti 1992, Kerns et al. 1987, 1991, Sisken et al. 1989, Rusovan et al 1992). Improved function recovery after nerve crush injury treated with electrical stimulation was observed by Nix and Hopf (1983) as well as Pockett and Gavin (1985). Further experiments showed that brief electrical stimulation increases axonal sprouting and reinnervation of the distal nerve stump as well as BDNF and trkB expression in motoneurons (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a, b, Brushart et al. 2002). Furthermore, electrical stimulation accelerates and enhances expression of regeneration-associated genes, e.g. $T\alpha$ 1-Tubulin and GAP-43 (Al-Majed et al. 2004). In addition, regeneration of sensory neurons is also improved by electrical stimulation and an up-regulation of BDNF and GAP-43 expression was detected in sensory neurons (Brushart et al. 2005, Geremia et al. 2007). These positive effects of brief electrical stimulation on peripheral nerve regeneration are mediated via the neuronal cell body (Al-Majed et al. 2000 b). Moreover, functional recovery is accelerated as well as the size of motoneuron bodies and the nerve diameter increase after brief electrical stimulation in mice (Ahlborn et al. 2007). The effect of electrical stimulation on myelination is inconsistent. Ahlborn et al. (2007) found a decrease of myelination in motor axons after regeneration. Recent experiments in rats showed, that axonal remyelination after nerve injury in rats is increased after electrical stimulation (Wan et al. 2010 a, b). The brief electrical stimulation paradigm was already tested in a clinical setting. Gordon et al. (2010) observed an accelerated axonal regeneration and target reinnervation in humans after carpal tunnel surgery (Gordon et al. 2010).

1.4 The femoral nerve model

The femoral nerve model in rodents is a well approved paradigm for evaluation of peripheral nerve regeneration (e.g. Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009, Huang et al. 2009, Irintchev et al. 2005, Irintchev 2011, Malin et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006). The femoral nerve (Fig. 3) is a mixed peripheral nerve, containing motor and sensory proprioceptive axons. It includes nerve fibres from the L2 to L4 spinal nerves.



Figure 3. Exposed left femoral nerve. The common nerve trunk (ct) bifurcates into a muscle (mb) and cutaneous branch (cb) after exiting the peritoneal cavity.

After leaving the peritoneal cavity, the femoral nerve bifurcates into two branches. The motor or quadriceps branch (Fig. 3) contains motor and sensory axons neurons that exclusively innervate the ipsilateral quadriceps muscle. Its major function is the extension in the knee joint. The sensory or saphenous branch (Fig. 3) innervates the ipsilateral medial part of the lower limb. Lesions of the femoral nerve proximal to the bifurcation cause (1) gait disability due to ipsilateral quadriceps paresis and (2) sensory deficits. Loss of quadriceps muscle function can be assessed by the singleframe motion analysis (SFMA, Irintchev et al. 2005).

1.5 Preferential motor reinnervation

Previous experiments have shown that motor axons reinnervate motor pathways of the distal nerve stump in mixed peripheral nerves selectively in rats (Brushart 1988, 1993, 1998). This preferential motor reinnervation (PMR) is accelerated by electrical stimulation (Al-Majed et al. 2000 b) in rats. However, inconsistent results of PMR in mice have been found (Ahlborn et al. 2007, Franz et al. 2005, 2008, Guseva et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006). PMR is likely associated with the expression of (1) trkB (Eberhardt et al. 2006) and (2) HNK-1 (human natural killer cell glycan, Simova et al. 2006). HNK-1 is expressed exclusively on Schwann cells of motor but not of sensory axons and enhances axonal outgrowth by motoneurons (Martini and Schachner 1986, Martini et al. 1992, 1994). Moreover, (3) PSA-NCAM (α 2,8 polysialic acid), which is expressed predominantly on neural cell adhesion molecule (Rutishauser 2008, Franz et al. 2005, 2008) is also associated with PMR.

2. Rationale and aim of the study

2. Rationale and aim of the study

Previous work on peripheral nerve regeneration has indicated that brief electrical stimulation is beneficial for motor (Al-Majed et al. 2000 b, Brushart et al. 2002) and sensory axonal regeneration (Brushart et al. 2005, Geremia et al. 2005, 2007). Furthermore, electrical stimulation has been shown to improve functional recovery after axonal injury (Ahlborn et al. 2007) and to be linked to enhanced expression of BDNF and its high-affinity receptor trkB (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a).

The objective of this study was to determine the effect of brief electrical stimulation after femoral nerve injury and immediate nerve repair on (1) functional recovery, (2) neuronal survival and (3) selectively of reinnervation of the distal nerve stump in heterozygous trkB deficient mice compared to their wild-type littermates. Following questions were to be evaluated during this study:

- (1) Is the functional recovery,
- (2) the neuronal survival and/or,
- (3) the selectively of distal nerve stump reinnervation

impaired in heterozygous trkB in mice compared to their wild-type littermates after electrical stimulation of the femoral nerve?

Functional recovery was assessed by the single-frame motion analysis (SFMA, Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009, Huang et al. 2009, Irintchev et al. 2005, Malin et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006).

Neuronal survival and selectively of reinnervation were investigated using a retrograde labelling procedure in the femoral nerve model (e.g. Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009).

3. Material and Methods

3.1 Animals

Experiments were performed in eight male mice heterozygous for the tyrosine kinase receptor B (trkB+/-) and eight male wild-type (trkB+/+) littermates. All animals were three months of age at the onset of the experiment. The heterozygous trkB and wild-type mice (C57BL/6J background) were bred in the animal facility of the University Hospital of Hamburg and genotyped by standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay as described previously (Xu et al. 2000 a, b). All animals used appeared healthy upon arrival and no structural or behavioural abnormalities were noticed. During experiments mice were kept in Plexiglas-cages (height 14 cm, depth 27 cm, width 20 cm) and had access to standard food and water ad libitum. The animals were kept in an air-conditioned room with a temperature of 22°C and a day-night-rhythm of 12 hours (dark: 19.00 to 07.00). All experiments were conducted in accordance with the German and European laws on protection of experimental animals. The procedures used were approved by the responsible committee of The State of Hamburg.

3.2 Surgical procedure and electrical stimulation

Operation and electrical stimulation of the femoral nerve were performed as described previously (Ahlborn et al. 2007). Animals were anaesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of 0.4 mg/kg fentanyl (Fentanyl-Janssen, Janssen, Neuss, Germany), 20 mg/kg droperidol (Dehydrobenzperidol, Janssen) and 5 mg/kg diazepam (Valium 10 Roche, Hoffman-La Roche, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany). The eyes of the mice were covered with Bepanthen eye ointment (Hoffman-La Roche, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany) to prevent drying during operation. Animals were fixed in a supine position on a Styropor plate using adhesive tape. The left lower quadrant of the

abdomen and the left groin were cleaned with ethanol (70%, Walter-CMP, Kiel, Germany), the hair was shaved, and after a skin incision with a length of about 2 cm, the left femoral nerve was exposed (Fig. 3). Teflon coated steel wires were used as stimulation electrodes (A5632, Cooner Wire Company, Chatsworth, CA). The cathode, forming a small loop, was twisted around the proximal nerve stump distal to the nerve's exit from the peritoneal cavity, while the anode was fixed at the muscle close to the femoral nerve. The threshold voltage required to elicit visible contraction of the quadriceps muscle was determined at varying voltage intensities (square pulse of 0.1 ms, duration at 20 Hz) for each mouse individually using an isolated pulse stimulator (Model 2100, A-M Systems, Carlsborg, WA, USA). The femoral nerve was transected with fine scissors 3 mm proximal to the bifurcation of the femoral nerve and 2 mm distal to the electrode. Immediately after transecting, the proximal nerve stump was stimulated for one hour by applying square 0.1 ms pulses at 20 Hz using an amplitude three times above the individually determined threshold level. The pulse amplitude was typically 3-4 V (Fig. 4). During electrical stimulation, the wound was covered with a moistened paper.



Figure 4. Schematic illustration of the femoral nerve during brief electrical stimulation procedure after femoral nerve transection. Bipolar electrodes are fixed at the common trunk (ct) of the femoral nerve before its bifrucation into the mucle (mb) and cutaneus branch (cb) (Figure 4 adapted from Al-Majed et al. 2000 b).

After one hour of electrical stimulation, the electrodes were explanted (Fig. 5 A), the proximal and distal nerve stump were readapted with single epidural stitches of 11-0 Nylon suture thread (Ethicon, Norderstedt, Germany) and inserted into a silastic nerve cuff (3 mm length, 0.58 mm inner diameter, Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany). The proximal and distal nerve stumps were separated by a gap of 2 mm (Fig. 5 B-D). The polyethylene tubing was filled with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4). After haemostasis, the skin wound was closed with 6-0 sutures (Ethicon, Norderstedt, Germany) and operated animals were kept in a heated room (35 °C) overnight to prevent hypothermia.



Figure 5. Transected femoral nerve after 1 h of low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz and explanation of the electrodes (A). Distal (left hand side) and proximal (right hand side) nerve stump stitched by suture (B). Distal and proximal nerve stump were inserted into a nerve cuff with a 2 mm gap. The gap between both nerve stumps was filled with PBS (C). Fixation of the suture with a single knot (D).

3.3 Analysis of motor function

Motor functional recovery of the femoral nerve was assessed by the single frame motion analysis (SFMA, Irintchev et al. 2005, Irintchev 2011). The SFMA allows a precise evaluation of the quadriceps muscle function (Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009, Huang et al. 2009, Irintchev et al. 2005, Irintchev 2011, Malin et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006). Irintchev et al. (2005) showed that deficits in quadriceps muscle function induced by lesions of the femoral nerve and degree of functional recovery in the course of reinnervation can be precisely evaluated in mice.

3.3.1 Video recording and measurements

All animals used in this experiment learned to walk on a wooden beam (1000 mm long, 38 mm wide) leading to their home cage prior to operation (Fig. 6). Rear-view video recordings were taken for each animal prior to surgery and were repeated 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks after surgical and brief electrical stimulation procedure using a high speed camera (A620fc, Basler, Ahrensburg, Germany) at 100 frames per second and examined using SIMI-Motion 7.0 software (SIMI Reality Motion Systems, Unterschleissheim, Germany) as well as VirtualDub 1.8.1 (written by Avery Lee, free software available at http://www.virtualdub.org). Selected video frames of the step cycle were analysed to measure defined parameters reflecting the quadriceps motor function. The heels-tail angle (HTA) and the foot-base angle (FBA) were measured. Angles were measured using UTHSCSA ImageTool 3.0 program (University of Texas, San Antonio, TX, USA; free software available at http://ddsdx.uthscsa.edu/dig/). Without initial training, voluntary reaching pursuits for estimation of the limb protraction length ratio (PLR) were video recorded. Length measurements were also performed with UTHSCSA ImageTool 3.0.



Figure 6. Experimental setup for video recordings. Shown are high speed camera (arrow), beam walk and an animal home cage. Animals were trained to walk on the wooden beam without exploratory pauses and at a steady speed to their home cage. Rear view of walking was captured with a high speed camera several times: prior to surgery, 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks after operation of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour.

3.3.2 Parameters of functional recovery

When the quadriceps branch of the femoral nerve is injured, only the quadriceps muscle, which extends the leg in the knee joint, is affected. The quadriceps muscle keeps the knee extended during single-support phases required for the swing of the contralateral leg during walking. Three parameters were measured to evaluate the quadriceps muscle function as parameters for the reinnervation of the femoral nerve (Irintchev at al. 2005): (1) the heels-tail angle (HTA), (2) the foot-base angle (FBA) and (3) the limb protraction length ratio (PLR). To evaluate the degree of recovery on an individual basis, the heels-tail angle recovery index, the foot-base angle recovery index, the cumulative stance recovery index and the limb protraction length ratio recovery index were calculated. As an absolute measure of recovery, the stance deficit for the HTA, the FBA and the cumulative stance deficit were calculated.

3.3.2.1 Heels-tail angle

The heels-tail angle (HTA) is formed by the lines connecting the heels with the anus and measured when the leg of the operated and electrically stimulated side is in single support phase and the contralateral extremity has maximum swing attitude with the sole surface parallel to the transverse plane (Fig. 7 A, Irintchev et al. 2005). Quadriceps muscle weakness after femoral nerve injury leads to characteristic changes compared with intact animals: the sole of the injured side is visible in the single support phase, the hip is tiled and the extremity is rotated internally. (Fig. 7 B, Irintchev et al. 2005). Contralateral HTA is not affected by the femoral nerve injury.



Figure 7. Single video frames from recordings of beam walking (A, B). Lines drawn in the video frames show the heels-tail angle. An animal prior to (A) and 1 week after repair of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation (B).

3.3.2.2 Foot-base angle

The foot-base angle (FBA) is formed by the horizontal line and the line dividing the sole of the operated and electrically stimulated side into two halves symmetrically. The FBA is measured at toe-off position (Fig. 8 A) at the side of repair and electrical stimulation, at which the sole is parallel to the transverse plane (Irintchev et al. 2005).

In injured mice, the ipsilateral FBA is increased due to internal rotation of the foot (Fig. 8 B), which is not observed in intact animals (Fig. 8 A).



Figure 8. Single video frames from recordings of beam walking (A, B). Lines drawn in the video frames show the foot-base angle. An animal prior to (A) and 1 week after repair of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation (B).

3.3.2.3 Limb protraction length ratio

The limb protraction length ratio (PLR) is measured as the ratio of the relative length of the intact to the lesioned limb. PLR is measured when a mouse is held by its tail and is allowed to grasp a pencil with its paws. Doing this, the mouse extends both hind limbs simultaneously. The distance is measured between the most distal mid-point of the extremity and the anus (Irintchev et al. 2005). After nerve injury on one side, the ipsilateral side can not be extended maximally (Fig. 9 B), while the contralateral hind limb can be extended to its maximum. (Fig 9 A).



Figure 9. Single video frames from video recordings of limb protractions (A, B). Lines drawn in the video frames show limb length used for calculation of the limb protraction length ratio (PLR). An animal prior to (A) and 1 week after repair of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation (B).

3.3.2.4 Recovery indices

As relative measure of functional recovery, different recovery indices were calculated: the (1) HTA, (2) FBA, (3) PLR and (4) stance recovery index. These recovery indices allow evaluation of recovery on an individual animal basis and are more advantageous than absolute values in order to compare the degree of recovery, because of excluding interindividual differences like gender, body weight and age that could impede comparison of absolute values (Irintchev et al. 2005).

3.3.2.4.1 Heels-tail angle, Foot-base angle and Protraction length ratio recovery index

The heels-tail angle, foot-base angle and limb protraction length ratio recovery indices are calculated in percent, as:

$$RI = [(X_{reinn} - X_{den}) / (X_{pre} - X_{den})] \times 100$$

 X_{pre} is the value prior to operation and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour, X_{den} during the state of denervation (7 days after injury), and X_{reinn} at any time-point of reinnervation. In this experiment the recovery indices were calculated for four different time-points: 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks.

3.3.2.4.2 Stance recovery index

The stance recovery index is calculated as the mean of the heels-tail angle and the foot-base angle recovery index after 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of regeneration.

3.3.2.5 Stance deficit

As an absolute measure of recovery, the (1) heels-tail angle, (2) foot-base angle and (3) cumulative stance deficit were calculated (Simova et al. 2006).

3.3.2.5.1 Heels-tail angle stance deficit

The heels-tail angle stance deficit is calculated as the difference between the preand postoperative HTA values at any time-point of reinnervation after operation and electrical stimulation (HTA_{reinn}):

HTA stance deficit = $HTA_0 - HTA_{reinn}$

3.3.2.5.2 Foot-base angle stance deficit

The foot-base angle stance deficit is calculated as the difference between the postoperative FBA_{reinn} values at any time-point of reinnervation after surgery and electrical stimulation and the preoperative FBA_0 values:

FBA stance deficit = $FBA_{reinn} - FBA_0$

3.3.2.5.3 Cumulative stance deficit

The cumulative stance deficit is calculated as the sum of the FBA and HTA stance deficit (Simova et al. 2006):

Cumulative stance deficit = $(FBA_{reinn} - FBA_0) + (HTA_0 - HTA_{reinn})$

3.4 Retrograde labelling of motoneurons

The retrograde labelling procedure was performed to (1) differentiate between correctly and incorrectly projecting motoneurons, (2) evaluate the degree of preferential motor reinnervation and (3) assess neuronal survival 3 months after nerve injury and brief electrical stimulation.

Retrograde labelling is a standard technique to quantitatively evaluate reinnervation in peripheral nerve research (Hayashi, 2007). The retrograde labelling has been described in detail previously (e.g. Ahlborn et al. 2007, Al-Majed et al. 2000 a, b, 2004, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009, Malin et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006).

Twelve weeks after axonal transection and brief electrical stimulation all animals used for functional analysis were anaesthetized deeply by application of 0.4 mg/kg fentanyl (Fentanyl-Janssen, Janssen, Neus, Germany), 20 mg/kg droperidol (Dehydrobenzperidol, Janssen) and 5 mg/kg diazepam (Valium 10 Roche, Hoffman-La Roche, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany) into the peritoneal cavity. The eyes of the mice were covered with Bepanthen eye ointment (Hoffman-La Roche, Grenzach-Wyhlen, Germany) to prevent drying during operation. Animals were fixed in a supine position on a Styropor plate using adhesive tape. The left lower quadrant of the abdomen and the left groin were cleaned with ethanol (70%, Walter-CMP, Kiel, Germany) and the hair was shaved. After a skin incision with a length of about two cm, the left femoral nerve with its muscle and cutaneous branch was exposed. Pieces of Parafilm (Pechiney Plastic Packaging, Chicago, IL, USA) were placed underneath the two nerve branches distal to the bifurcation. The quadriceps and saphenous branch were cut with a fine pair of scissors 5 mm distal to the bifurcation of the femoral nerve (Fig. 10 A). Fluoroscence retrograde tracers were applied in powder for the transected nerve ends. Fluoro-Gold (Fluorochrome, Denver, Colorado, USA) was applied to the muscle branch, while Fast-Blue (EMS-Chemie GmbH, Großumstadt, Germany) was applied to the cutaneous branch (Fig. 10 B). Thirty minutes after application, the quadriceps and saphenous stumps were rinsed with PBS and gently blotted with filter paper. After haemostasis, the skin wound was closed with 6-0 sutures (Ethicon). After the retrograde back labelling and surgical procedure, the animals were kept in a heated room (35 °C) overnight to prevent hypothermia.



Figure 10. Exposed left femoral nerve with its muscle (mb) and cutaneous (cb) branch during the retrograde labelling procedure (A, B) 12 weeks after nerve repair and 1h low frequency electrical stimulation. Pieces of Parafim underneath the transected branches (A). Fluoroscence retrograde tracers were applied to both branches of the femoral nerve. Fluoro-Gold was applied to the muscle branch and Fast-Blue was applied to the cutaneous branch (B).

3.5 Transcardial perfusion and tissue preparation

One week after the retrograde labelling, mice were anaesthetized by an intraperitoneal application of 5 μ l/g of a 16% solution of sodium pentobarbital (Narcoren®, Merial, Hallbermoos, Germany). The deeply anaesthetized animals were transcardially perfused using a peristaltic pump (Ismatec SA, Glattbrugg, Switzerland) with PBS for 1 minute followed by a fixative (4% formaldehyde in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer, pH 7.3) for 15 minutes at room temperature. The lumbar spinal cord was dissected, removed and post-fixed for 18-24 hours at 4°C in the same fixative (4% formaldehyde in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer, pH 7.3). The spinal cords were cut transversely on a vibratom (VT1000S, Leica Instruments, Nußloch, Germany). Serial section of 50- μ m thickness were mounted on glass slides (SuperFrost®Plus, Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). The sections were stored in boxes at -20°C until morphological analysis.

3.6 Morphological analysis of the spinal cord sections

The lumbar spinal cord sections were studied using a fluorescence microscope (Axiophot 2, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) with an ultraviolet filter (excitation: 365 nm) appropriate for both retrograde labelling tracers. Fluoro-Gold and Fast Blue were used to back-label motor neurons. Motoneurons that were labelled with Fluoro-Gold had a bright yellow fluorescence of the cytoplasm and the dendritic processes (Schmued et al. 1986, Hayashi et al. 2007). Neurons retrogradely labelled by Fast Blue showed a bright blue fluorescence of the stained cytoplasm and the dendritic processes (Bentivoglio et al. 1980, Hayashi et al. 2007). Sections were studied by counting single (Fast Blue or Fluoro-Gold only) and double-labelled (Fast Blue and Fluoro-Gold) neurons. To be sure that no cells were double counted a stereological method was used as described previously (Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Mehanna et al. 2009, for detailed description see Simova et al. 2006).



Figure 11. Stereological method to avoid double counting of retrogradely labelled neurons. Shown are eight sections (number of slices are shown on the left hand side) cut from a continuous piece of tissue (containing eight cells to be counted). Starting from the top sections were examined by focusing through the depth of each section (arrow). Labelled cells were counted when their profiles were not visible on top of the sections. Total number of counted cells (n) are shown on the right hand side (Figure 11 from Simova et al. 2006).

All sections were examined by focusing through the section thickness starting from the top using a 40x magnification. All visible motoneurons were counted except those profiles visible on the top of the section (Fig. 11).

3.7 Photographic documentation

Images of the surgical procedure were taken using a Stemi 2000 microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) equipped with a digital camera Axiocam (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Processing of images was made by using Adobe® Photoshop® 7.0 (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, California, USA).

3.8 Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean values with standard errors of mean (S.E.M.). One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measurements with Tukey post hoc test and two-sided t-test for independent groups were used to compare group mean values. The accepted level of significance was set at 5%. Mean was used as representative value, when two or more measurements per animal were made. For all comparisons, the degree of freedom was determined by the number of animals. Statistical analysis was performed with SigmaStat 3.5 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, California, USA). Linear regression analysis was performed using SigmaPlot 10 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, California, USA).

4. Results

4.1 Functional recovery

To evaluate functional recovery in heterozygous trkB animals and their wildtype littermates after femoral nerve transection and brief low frequency electrical stimulation, the quadriceps motor function was assessed by using the single-frame motion analysis (SFMA, Irintchev et al. 2005). The heels-tail angle (HTA), the footbase angle (FBA) and the limb protraction length ratio (PLR) were calculated. Measurements were performed at several time points: prior to and 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks after nerve repair and electrical stimulation. To evaluate the degree of recovery on an individual basis, for each animal the recovery index for the HTA, the FBA, the PLR and the stance recovery index were calculated. As an absolute measure of recovery, the stance deficit for the HTA, the FBA and the cumulative stance deficit were calculated.

4.1.1 Heels-tail angle

After an initial decrease of mean angle values immediately after axonal injury and electrical stimulation in both groups, a significantly delayed increase of the HTA mean values in trkB+/- mice compared to the control group was detected at 28 (p<0.001, ANOVA) and 56 (p<0.001, ANOVA) days (Fig. 12). No statistically significant differences were found after 7 (p=0.082, ANOVA), 14 (p=0.110, ANOVA) and 84 (p=0.437, ANOVA) days of recovery between heterozygous trkB mice and their wild-type littermates.

4. Results



Figure 12. Heels-tail angle prior to operation, 7, 14, 28, 56 and 84 days after nerve transection and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black circles) and trkB+/- animals (open circles). Shown are mean values \pm S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n =and their wild-type 8) littermates (n = 8) (p <0.001, one way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc test).

4.1.2 Foot-base angle

Following an initial increase of FBA mean values after axonal injury followed by brief electrical stimulation in both groups, a significantly delayed decrease of FBA mean values in trkB+/- mice compared to their wild-type littermates was found at 14 (p<0.001, ANOVA) and 28 (p<0.001 ANOVA) days. No statistically significant differences comparing both groups were found after 7 (p=0.07, ANOVA), 56 (p=0.088, ANOVA) and 84 (p=0.117, ANOVA) days of regeneration after femoral nerve injury and brief electrical stimulation (Fig. 13).

4. Results



Figure 13. Foot-base angle prior to operation, 7, 14, 28, 56 and 84 days after nerve transection and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black circles) and trkB+/- animals (open circles). Shown are \pm S.E.M. mean values Asterisks indicate significant differences between trkB heterozygous mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.001, one way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc test).

4.1.3 Limb protraction length ratio

Comparison of the heterozygous trkB and the control group showed, after an initial increase of PLR mean values after femoral injury followed by brief electrical stimulation, a significantly delayed decrease of PLR mean values in trkB+/- animals after 14 (p=0.048, ANOVA) and 28 (p<0.001, ANOVA) days of regeneration. No statistically significant differences between both groups were found 7 (p=0.670, ANOVA), 56 (p=0.839, ANOVA) and 84 (p=0.138, ANOVA) days after femoral lesion followed by brief electrical stimulation (Fig. 14).



Figure 14. Limb protraction length ratio prior to operation, 7, 14, 28, 56 and 84 days after nerve transection and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black circles) and trkB+/- animals (open circles). Shown are \pm S.E.M. mean values Asterisks indicate significant differences between trkB heterozygous mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.05, one way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc test).

4.1.4 Recovery indices

After 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of regeneration (1) the HTA, (2) the FBA, (3) the stance recovery index as well as (4) the PLR recovery index were calculated to evaluate the degree of regeneration on an individual basis.

4.1.4.1 Heels-tail angle recovery index

A significantly better recovery for the HTA index was found in trkB+/+ littermates compared with trkB+/- mice at 4 (p<0,001, t-test) and 8 weeks (p<0,001, t-test) but not at 2 and 12 weeks of regeneration (Fig. 15).



Figure 15. Heels-tail angle recovery index after 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/- (grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are mean values \pm S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.001, two-sided ttest for independent groups).

4.1.4.2 Foot-base angle recovery index

A statistically significant difference between the two groups, with better recovery in trkB+/+ than trkB+/- mice, was found only after 4 weeks of recovery (p=0.003, t-test, Fig. 16).


Foot-base angle recovery index

Figure 16. Foot-base angle recovery index after 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/- (grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are mean values ± S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between trkB mice heterozygous (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p = 0.003,two-sided t-test for independent groups).

4.1.4.3 Stance recovery index

Statistically significant differences between the two groups were found after 4 (p<0.001, t-test) and 8 weeks (p=0.002, t-test) of regeneration due to slower recovery in the heterozygous trkB mice than in the control group (trkB+/+, Fig. 17).



Figure 17. Stance recovery index, an overall estimate of quadriceps muscle function during stance after 2, 4, 8 and 12 recovery weeks of after operation and electrical stimulation in trkB+/+ (black bars) and trkB+/- (grey bars) animals. Shown are mean values ± S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.05, two-sided t-test for independent groups).

4.1.4.4 Limb protraction length ratio recovery index

Comparison of trkB+/- and trkB+/+ animals showed a significantly better recovery in trkB+/+ than trkB+/- mice after 4 weeks of regeneration (p<0.001, t-test) but not at 2, 8 and 12 weeks of regeneration (Fig. 18).



Protraction length ratio recovery index

Figure 18. Limb protraction length ratio recovery index after 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation and stimulation electrical in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/- (grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are mean values ± S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.001, two-sided for t-test independent groups).

4.1.5 Stance deficit

(1) The HTA, (2) the FBA and (3) the cumulative stance deficit were calculated as absolute measure of recovery 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks after operation of the left femoral nerve followed by low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour.

4.1.5.1 Heels-tail angle stance deficit

Statistically significant differences comparing the heterozygous trkB animals with their wild-type littermates were found after 4 (p=0.001, t-test) and 8 weeks (p<0.001, t-test) of regeneration due to a delayed decrease of the HTA stance deficit in trkB+/- animals (Fig. 19).



Heels-tail angle stance deficit

Figure 19. Heels-tail angle stance deficit after 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/- (grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are values ± S.E.M. mean Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.05, two-sided ttest for independent groups).

4.1.5.2 Foot-base angle stance deficit

Comparison of trkB+/- and trkB+/+ mice showed statistically significant differences after 2 (p<0.001, t-test) and 4 weeks (p<0.001, t-test) for the FBA stance deficit due to a delayed decrease of FBA stance deficit in heterozygous trkB animals in comparison to their wild-type littermates (Fig. 20).



Figure 20. Foot-base angle stance deficit after 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/- (grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are values ± S.E.M. mean Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice (n=8) and their wild-type littermates (n=8) (p < 0.05, two-sided ttest for independent groups).

4.1.5.3 Cumulative stance deficit

Comparison of the two groups showed a significantly larger deficit after 2 (p=0.023, t-test), 4 (p<0.001, t-test) and 8 weeks (p<0.001, t-test) of regeneration between trkB+/- animals and their wild-type littermates (Fig. 21).



Figure 21. Cumulative stance deficit after 1, 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks of recovery after operation of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour in trkB+/+ (black bars, n=8) and trkB+/-(grey bars, n=8) animals. Shown are mean values ± S.E.M. Asterisks indicate significant differences between heterozygous trkB mice and their wild-type littermates (p < 0.05, twosided t-test for independent groups).

4.1.6 Summary

To evaluate quadriceps muscle reinnervation in heterozygous trkB mice (trkB+/-) compared to control mice (trkB+/+) after femoral nerve transection and brief electrical stimulation numerous functional parameters were evaluated at several points in time. A delayed functional recovery was found in heterozygous trkB mice compared to their wild-type littermates in all parameters. After 12 weeks of regeneration all functional recovery parameters were similar in trkB+/- and trkB+/+ animals.

4.2 Morphological evaluation of reinnervation

Three month after nerve transection followed by low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz, morphological analysis of the spinal cord was performed in mice used for evaluation of the functional recovery by SFMA.

No statistically significant differences between trkB+/- and trkB+/+ animals were found for number of motoneurons labelled via the motor, sensory or through both branches (Fig. 22). The total number of retrogradely labelled motoneurons was also similar in the two groups (Fig. 22) and no preferential motor reinnervation (PMR), estimated by the ratio of motoneurons regenerated into the muscle branch only to those regenerated into the sensory branch – was observed (Figs. 22 and 23).



Figure 22. Morphological evaluation of motoneuron regeneration 3 month after operation and electrical trkB+/+ stimulation in (n=8) and trkB+/- (n=8) animals. Shown are cells labelled via the motor branch (black bar) or sensory branch (first grey bar) only, through both branches (second grey bar), as well as the number of regenerated neurons (third grey bar). Shown are mean values ± S.E.M. No differences between the groups were found (p >0.05, two-sided t-test for independent groups).



Preferential motor reinnervation

Figure 23. Degree of preferential motor reinnervation (PMR) 3 months after nerve transection of the left femoral nerve and low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour in trkB+/+ (n=8) and trkB+/- (n=8) animals. PMR is calculated in percent as ratio of neurons regenerated into the muscle branch only to those regenerated into the sensory branch. No statistically significant difference between the groups was found (p > 0.05, two-sided t-test for independent groups).

4.3 Co-variation of recovery indices and structural parameters

Regression analysis was performed to detect if functional parameters correlate with morphological parameters. As functional parameters the stance recovery index and the limb protraction length ratio recovery index were correlated with different structural parameters: (1) the total number of labelled motoneurons, (2) the number of motoneurons projecting into the muscle branch and (3) the index of preferential reinnervation 3 months after surgery and electrical stimulation.

No co-variation between the estimates of functional recovery and morphological parameters was found when data of individual mice from both groups were analysed 3 month after surgical procedure followed by low frequency electrical stimulation (Tab. 1 and Fig. 24).

Tab. 1. Degree of co-variation of recovery indices and structural parameters. Shown are results of regression analyses including correlation coefficients (r), coefficients of determination (r^2) and statistically significant probability values (p) for regression calculated by ANOVA.

Stance recovery index versus	3 Months after surgery
Total number of motoneurons	$r = -0.181, r^2 = 0.03, p > 0.05$
Number of motoneurons projecting into the	$r = -0.01, r^2 = 0.0001, p > 0.05$
motor branch	
Index of preferential motor reinnervation	$r = 0.134, r^2 = 0.02, p > 0.05$
Limb protraction length ratio recovery index	3 Months after surgery
versus	
Total number of motoneurons	$r = 0.165, r^2 = 0.03, p > 0.05$
Number of motoneurons projecting into the	$r = 0.254, r^2 = 0.06, p > 0.05$
motor branch	
Index of preferential motor reinnervation	$r = 0.157, r^2 = 0.02, p > 0.05$



Figure 24. Correlation between functional and structural parameters. Stance recovery index (A, B, C) and recovery index of limb protraction length ratio (D, E, F) studied 3 months after operation and electrical stimulation are plotted against the total number of labelled motoneurons (A, D), the number of motoneurons projecting into the motor branch (B, E) and the index of preferential motor reinnervation (C, F). Shown are regression lines, coefficients of regression (r) and determination (r2) and probability values of regression analysis by ANOVA. No statistically significant difference among the groups was found (p > 0.05, one way analysis of variance, ANOVA).

5. Discussion

This study provides first quantitative data on functional recovery and motoneuron regeneration of heterozygous tyrosine kinase B mice compared to their wild-type littermates after transection of the left femoral nerve followed by a low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz for one hour and microsurgical nerve repair. A brief summary of results is given in Table 2. These results show that a reduction in trkB expression does not cause failure in recovery in motor function and end organ reinnervation, but leads to a delay at early time points in functional motor recovery suggesting that trkB signalling is essential for achievement of the previously reported acceleration of peripheral nerve regeneration after brief electrical stimulation.

Table 2. Summary of differences found between trkB+/- and trkB+/+ animals in functional recovery 1-12 weeks after nerve injury and in morphological parameters after 12 weeks of recovery. Statistically significant lower (\downarrow) or higher (\uparrow) values in mutant animals as compared to control animals. = no statistically significant difference among both groups. Two-sided t-test for independent groups or one way ANOVA with post hoc Tukey test. / not studied.

Functional recovery	1 week	2 weeks	4 weeks	8 weeks	12 weeks
Heels-tail angle	=	=	\downarrow	\downarrow	=
Foot-base angle	=	\downarrow	\downarrow	=	=
Protraction length ratio	=	\downarrow	\downarrow	=	=
HTA recovery index	/	=	\downarrow	\downarrow	=
FBA recovery index	/	=	\downarrow	=	=
PLR recovery index	/	=	\downarrow	=	=
Stance recovery index	/	=	\downarrow	\downarrow	=
HTA stance deficit	=	=	↑	1	=
FBA stance deficit	=	↑	1	=	=
Cumulative stance deficit	=	\uparrow	\uparrow	1	=

Morphological analysis	1 week	2 weeks	4 weeks	8 weeks	12 weeks
Correctly projecting	/	/	/	/	=
motoneurons (labelled					
through the motor branch)					
Incorrectly projecting	/	/	/	/	=
motoneurons (labelled					
through the sensory branch)					
Double-labelled	/	/	/	/	=
motoneurons					
Total number of	/	/	/	/	=
motoneurons					
Preferential motor	/	/	/	/	=
reinnervation					

5.1 Functional recovery

To evaluate functional recovery of the quadriceps muscle after femoral nerve injury followed by brief electrical stimulation and nerve repair at different time points, the single frame motion analysis (SFMA, Irintchev et al. 2005) was used. It was shown to be a reliable and sensitive method to estimate functional recovery and deficits after femoral nerve injuries in mice (Ahlborn et al. 2007, Eberhardt et al. 2006, Guseva et al. 2009, Huang et al. 2009, Irintchev et al. 2005, Irintchev 2011, Malin et al. 2009, Mehanna et al. 2009, Simova et al. 2006). The results showed that functional recovery is delayed at early time periods in heterozygous trkB-deficient mice compared to their wild-type littermates after femoral nerve transection and one hour of low frequency electrical stimulation at 20 Hz (Table 2).

Electrical stimulation enhances trkB and BDNF mRNA after nerve injury (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a) and accelerates functional recovery (Ahlborn et al. 2007). Partial trkB deficiency alone causes a delay in functional recovery at early time points after femoral nerve injury. From these findings it could have been expected that functional recovery in electrically stimulated trkB+/- might lead to a persistent deficit in functional recovery compared to their stimulated wild-type littermates. Two factors that have influenced functional recovery in previous experiments and this study have to be considered: (1) electrical stimulation and (2) genotype.

(1) In rats, Al-Majed et al. (2000 b) were able to demonstrate that electrical stimulation accelerates reinnervation of the distal nerve stump after femoral nerve injury and further research confirmed that electrical stimulation enhances axon regeneration (for review see e.g. Gordon et al. 2007, 2008, 2009 a, b). Brief electrical stimulation was shown to accelerate functional recovery after 4 and 6 weeks of regeneration in C57BL/6J mice compared to sham-stimulated animals (Ahlborn et al. 2007). The results presented in this study do confirm the findings of Ahlborn et al. (2007) about functional recovery in trkB+/+ mice after brief electrical stimulation. No statistically significant differences were found comparing the stance recovery indices, which allow comparison of different experimental datasets at different points in time (Irintchev at al. 2005), calculated in the study of Ahlborn et al. (2007) and the data presented in this study (after 2 weeks: 12% versus 7%, p>0.05, t-test; after 4 weeks 40% versus 33%, p>0.05, t-test, after 8 weeks: 69% versus 68%, p>0.05, t-test; after 12 weeks: 81% versus 73%, p>0.05, t-test). This comparison suggests that brief electrical stimulation in this study was effective in accelerating functional recovery in wild-type mice. However, the functional outcome at 12 weeks after injury in stimulated trkB+/+ was deficient, compared with preoperative values (Figs. 15-21), similar to the outcome reported for wild-type mice with or with-out electrical stimulation in previous studies (Simova el al. 2006, Ahlborn et al. 2007). Although brief electrical stimulation after carpal tunnel release surgery in patients with median nerve compression accelerates axonal regeneration and target reinnervation (Gordon et al. 2010), long-term improvement in a clinical setting has still not been demonstrated.

(2) A number of studies have pointed out the role of trkB and its ligand BDNF in peripheral nerve regeneration (for review see Gordon 2009, Gordon et al. 2003). An early delay in functional recovery in trkB+/- mice, as compared with wild-type littermates, has been shown after nerve transection and immediate microsurgical repair without electrical stimulation (Eberhardt et al. 2006, Irintchev et al. 2005). These results indicate that functional recovery is delayed by partial trkB deficiency. Comparison of calculated stance recovery indices in trkB+/- animals (Eberhardt et al. 2006) and heterozygous trkB mice that received brief electrical stimulation of the femoral nerve in the present study do not show an effect of brief electrical stimulation on functional recovery (4 weeks 15% versus 14%, p=0.946 and 12 weeks 78% versus 78%, p=0.950). This could be interpreted as a confirmation of the important role of trkB and its signaltransduction pathway in functional recovery and peripheral nerve regeneration and its fundamental relation to electrical stimulation.

In conclusion, the present results indicate that partial trkB deficiency decelerates functional recovery possibly as a result of reduced, as compared with wild-type mice, up-regulation of the trkB signal transduction pathway.

5.2 Axonal regeneration and preferential motor reinnervation

In the present study, no influence of partial trkB deficiency in electrically stimulated animals on motoneuron regeneration at 12 weeks after injury compared to their wild-type littermates was found. Equal numbers of neurons have regenerated via the motor, sensory and both branches and no effect of partial trkB deficiency in electrically stimulated mice on precision of reinnervation was observed. These results on anatomical features of regeneration are in agreement with the finding of similar degree of functional recovery at 12 weeks after injury in the two genotypes.

Previous studies showed a total number of <120 motoneurons that reinnervated the distal nerve stump after femoral injury in wild-type mice without electrical stimulation (Simova et al. 2006). Here we counted a total number of about 110 neurons reinnervating the distal nerve stump after 12 weeks of regeneration and brief electrical stimulation in both genotypes. The present results on total number of regenerated neurons and numbers of neurons the regenerated via the motor, sensory or both branches in electrically stimulated trkB+/+ and trkB+/- mice are similar to results of Ahlborn et al. (2007) on electrically stimulated C57BL/6 mice (p>0.05, t-test). Thus, our data supports previous findings indicating that electrical stimulation in mice does not improve motoneuron survival (Ahlborn et al. 2007).

Preferential motor reinnervation (PMR) was found in previous femoral nerve injury studies (Brushart 1988, 1993) and inappropriate reinnervation of end organs was considered as a reason for poor functional recovery after nerve injury. Brief electrical stimulation was observed to enhance the staggered process of motoneuron regeneration in association with preferential motor reinnervation and enhancement of trkB and BDNF mRNA (Al-Majed 2000 a, b) in a rat femoral nerve injury model. Studies in mice to elucidate the phenomenon of PMR showed controversial results. On the one hand, studies performed in mice did not detect PMR in a femoral nerve model (Mehanna et al. 2009, Robinson 2003, 2005, Simova et al. 2006), while other studies in mice found a preferential motor reinnervation (Eberhardt et al. 2006, Franz et al. 2005). Missing PMR in trkB+/- mice was interpreted as an affect of genotype. Electrical stimulation in rats is known to accelerate preferential motor reinnervation (Al-Majed et al. 2000 b). In mice, controversial results were observed. Franz et al. (2008) reported about PMR in mice after brief electrical stimulation while other experiments did not show PMR in electrically stimulated and sham-stimulated wild-type mice (Ahlborn et al. 2007). Correlation between functional recovery and preferential motor reinnervation in mice is still controversial and strain-related differences might account for the controversies (Mehanna et al. 2009).

5.3 Co-variation of functional and structural parameters

In the present study, no co-variation between functional and structural parameters was detected comparing trkB+/- and trkB+/+ animals 12 weeks after femoral nerve injury. This stands in line with previous findings of Simova et al. (2006) showing that functional and anatomical measures of regeneration do not correlate at 3 months of regeneration after nerve injury. The only exception is a correlation between the stance recovery index and mean soma area of motoneurons reported in previous experiments with (Ahlborn et al. 2007) and without (Simova et al. 2006) brief electrical stimulation in mice. No estimates of motoneuron size were performed in this study but, considering the similar outcome in the two genotypes, it is unlikely to expect differences in motoneuron soma size in the two experimental groups.

5.4 Potential mechanisms of electrical stimulation and their relationship to trkB

Reinnervation of the peripheral nerve stump after nerve transection and immediate nerve repair is a staggered process, which can be accelerated by brief electrical stimulation of the injured nerve. Electrical stimulation supports the early sprouting of motor (Al-Majed et al. 2000 b) and sensory neurons (Brushart et al. 2005, Geremia et al. 2007) and enhances the staggered reinnervation of the distal nerve stump, which was accompanied by an increase and acceleration in BDNF and trkB mRNA expression (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a, b). In addition, brief electrical stimulation was shown to accelerate functional recovery (Ahlborn et al. 2007). The increase of BDNF and trkB mRNA expression is considered as the mechanism underlying the enhanced reinnervation of the distal nerve stump. But application of low doses of BDNF and GDNF did not lead to accelerated reinnervation of the distal nerve stump (Boyd and Gordon 2002, 2003) while application of high doses of BDNF or GDNF resulted in

inhibition of axonal regeneration highly likely mediated via the p75 receptor (Boyd and Gordon 2001, 2002, 2003, Gordon et al. 2005, 2003), so that target connections might be formed and neurite outgrowth is decelerated (Boyd and Gordon 2003, Gordon et al. 2003, 2005). Electrical stimulation of peripheral nerves is followed by an increase of cAMP which is induced by an activity-dependent calcium influx via membrane depolarization. Via protein kinase A gene transcription and translation growth-associated protein levels like actin, tubulin, GAP-43 (Al-Majed et al. 2004) and trkB and BDNF (Al-Majed et al. 2000 a) are upregulated (for review see Aglah et al. 2008, Gordon 2009, Gordon et al. 2010). Aglah et al. (2008) showed that rolipram mimics the effect of brief electrical stimulation immediately after nerve transection which proves a cAMP-depended effect of brief electrical stimulation.

Reduced trkB signaling by partial trkB deficiency could influence expression of other molecules having impact on peripheral nerve regeneration and functional recovery. Possible candidates are (1) the neural cell adhesion molecule L1 and (2) the human natural killer cell glycan (HNK-1). The neural cell adhesion molecule L1 was shown to promote neurite outgrowth and neuronal survival and to be regulated by neurotrophin signaling (Maness and Schachner 2007) in neurons and glial cells. L1 was shown to reduce Schwann cell proliferation after nerve injury, which causes a delay in functional recovery (Guseva et al. 2009). Previous studies showed that HNK-1 is expressed on motor myelin sheath but not sensory myelin sheath in mice and that it enhances motoneuron outgrowth (Martini and Schachner et al. 1986, Martini et al. 1992, 1994). HNK-1 is up-regulated after electrical stimulation and is associated with PMR in wild-type mice that did not undergo electrical stimulation. This effect was not observed in trkB+/- and BDNF+/- mice (Eberhardt et al. 2006). From these findings it has been concluded that HNK-1 expression is dependent on trkB signalling (Eberhardt et al. 2006). Functional recovery and PMR is enhanced after HNK-1 application to an injured femoral nerve (Simova et al. 2006).

Application of functional mimetic of the polysialic acid (PSA), a glycan associated with the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), was shown to promote

functional recovery, remyelination of regenerating axons and Schwann cell proliferation was enhanced in vitro and in vivo, while no effect on precision of reinnervation or motoneuron survival was observed in mice (Mehanna et al. 2009). Electrical stimulation increases axon diameters but reduces the degree of myelination of regenerated axons compared to sham-stimulated animals (Ahlborn et al. 2007). Further experiments on myelination after peripheral nerve injury in partial trkB deficient mice, with and without electrical stimulation could elucidate the correlation of L1, trkB and brief electrical stimulation.

5.5 Perspective

Our results are in line with previous findings indicating that trkB is an important factor in peripheral nerve regeneration associated with effects of brief electrical stimulation. Electrical stimulation accelerates functional recovery but does not improve the final outcome (Ahlborn et al. 2007). On the other hand, application of HNK-1 (Eberhardt et al. 2006, Simova et al. 2006) and PSA mimetics (Mehanna et al. 2009) to injured peripheral nerves improve the motor outcome of nerve injury without accelerating effects during early time periods of reinnervation. Further studies combining mimetic treatments with electrical stimulation seem promising for improving the functional outcome of peripheral nerve injury.

6. Summary

6. Summary

Functional recovery after peripheral axonal injury is often insufficient and several treatments to improve neuronal regeneration have been investigated. Brief electrical stimulation, for instance, has previously been shown to accelerate axonal sprouting and distal nerve stump reinnervation, up-regulate regeneration-associated genes and accelerate functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. These effects are believed to be mediated by BDNF and its high-affinity receptor trkB, which are up-regulated after axonal injury.

Here, the effects of short-term low-frequency brief electrical stimulation (1 h, 20 Hz) after femoral nerve injury and immediate nerve repair on (1) functional recovery, (2) neuronal survival and (3) precision of reinnervation were investigated in heterozygous trkB deficient mice (trkB+/-) compared to their wild-type littermates (trkB+/+) in the femoral nerve paradigm. Recovery of the quadriceps muscle function was assessed by single-frame motion analysis over a post-operative period of 3 months, while axonal reinnervation of the distal nerve stump was evaluated morphologically using retrograde labelling after 12 weeks of recovery.

The results showed that functional recovery was worse in trkB+/- mice compared to their wild-type littermates at 2-8 weeks after injury but the final outcome at 12 weeks was similar in the two genotypes. Morphological analysis revealed, in accordance with the functional data, a similar degree of motoneuronal regeneration and no preferential motor reinnervation in the two genotypes.

The findings of worse functional recovery during the first 2 month after injury in heterozygous trkB versus wild-type mice is apparently related to reduced trkB expression and provides further evidence that enhances trkB signalling underlies the effect of brief electrical stimulation on nerve regeneration. The amount of trkB expressed in the heterozygous mouse is, however, obviously sufficient to compensate, at late time points after injury, for initial deficits in regeneration.

Aglah C, Gordon T, de Chaves EIP (2008) cAMP promotes neurite outgrowth and extension through protein kinase A but independently of Erk activation in cultured rat motoneurons. Neuropharmacology. 55(1):8-17.

Ahlborn P, Schachner M, Irintchev A (2007) One hour electrical stimulation accelerates functional recovery after femoral nerve repair. Exp Neurol. 208(1):137-144.

Al-Majed AA, Brushart TM, Gordon T (2000 a) Electrical stimulation accelerates and increases expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in regenerating rat femoral motoneurons. Eur J Neurosci. 12(12):4381-4390.

Al-Majed AA, Neumann CM, Brushart TM, Gordon T (2000 b) Brief electrical stimulation promotes the speed and accuracy of motor axonal regeneration. J Neurosci. 20(7):2602-2608.

Al-Majed AA, Tam SL, Gordon T (2004) Electrical stimulation accelerates and enhances expression of regeneration-associated genes in regenerating rat femoral motoneurons. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 24(3):379-402.

Angelov DN, Ceynowa M, Guntinas-Lichius O, Streppel M, Grosheva M., Kiryakova SI, Skouras E, Maegele M, Irintchev A, Neiss WF, Sinis N, Alvanou A, Dunlop SA (2007) Mechanical stimulation of paralyzed vibrissal muscles following facial nerve injury in adult rat promotes full recovery of whisking. Neurobiol Dis. 26(1):229-242.

Asensio-Pinilla E, Udina E, Jaramillo J, Navarro X (2009) Electrical stimulation combined with exercise increase axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve injury. Exp Neurol. 219(1):258-65.

Barbacid M (1994) The Trk family of neurotrophin receptors. J Neurobiol. 25(11):1386-1403.

Barbacid M (1995) Neurotrophic factors and their receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 7(2):148-155.

Barde YA, Edgar D, Thoenen H (1982) Purification of a new neurotrophic factor from mammalian brain. EMBO J. 1(5):549-553.

Barker PA (1998) p75NTR: A study in contrasts. Cell Death Differ. 5(5):346-356.

Bentivoglio M, Kuypers HG, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Loewe H, Dann O (1980) Two new fluorescent retrograde neuronal tracers which are transported over long distances. Neurosci Lett. 18(1):25-30.

Bischoff A, Grosheva M, Irintchev A, Skouras E, Kaidoglou K, Michael J, Angelova SK, Kuerten S, Sinis N, Dunlop SA, Angelov DN (2009) Manual stimulation of the orbicularis oculi muscle improves eyelid closure after facial nerve injury in adult rats. Muscle Nerve. 39(2):197-205.

Boyd JG, Gordon T (2001) The neurotrophin receptors, trkB and p75, differentially regulate motor axonal regeneration. J Neurobiol. 49(4):314-325.

Boyd JG, Gordon T (2002) A dose-dependent facilitation and inhibition of peripheral nerve regeneration by brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Eur J Neurosci. 15(4):613-626.

Boyd JG, Gordon T (2003) Neurotrophic factors and their receptors in axonal regeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. Mol Neurobiol. 27(3):277-324.

Brushart TM (1988) Preferential reinnervation of motor nerves by regenerating motor axons. J Neurosci. 8(3):1026-1031.

Brushart TM (1993) Motor axons preferentially reinnervate motor pathways. J Neurosci. 13(6):2730-2738.

Brushart TM, Gerber J, Kessens P, Chen YG, Royall RM (1998) Contributions of pathway and neuron to preferential motor reinnervation. J Neurosci. 18(21):8674-8681.

Brushart TM, Hoffman PN, Royall RM, Murinson BB, Witzel C, Gordon T (2002) Electrical stimulation promotes motoneuron regeneration without increasing its speed or conditioning the neuron. J Neurosci. 22(15):6631-6638.

Brushart TM, Jari R, Verge V, Rohde C, Gordon T (2005) Electrical stimulation restores the specificity of sensory axon regeneration. Exp Neurol. 194(1):221-229.

Burnett MG, Zager EL (2004) Pathophysiology of peripheral nerve injury: a brief review. Neurosurg Focus. 16(5):E1.

Cassens C, Kleene R, Xiao MF, FriedrichC, Dityateva G, Schafer-Nielsen C, Schachner M (2010) Binding of the receptor tyrosine kinase TrkB to the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) regulates phosphorylation of NCAM and NCAM-dependent neurite outgrowth. J Biol Chem. 285(37):28959-28967.

Chao MV (2003) Neurotrophins and their receptors: a convergence point for many signalling pathways. Nat Rev Neurosci. 4(4):299-309.

Chen ZL, Yu WM, Strickland S (2007) Peripheral regeneration. Annu Rev Neurosci. 30:209-233.

Cui Q (2006) Actions of neurotrophic factors and their signaling pathways in neuronal survival and axonal regeneration. Mol Neurobiol. 33(2):155-179.

Eberhardt KA, Irintchev A, Al-Majed AA, Simova O, Brushart TM, Gordon T, Schachner M (2006) BDNF/TrkB signaling regulates HNK-1 carbohydrate expression in regenerating motor nerves and promotes functional recovery after peripheral nerve repair. Exp Neurol. 198(2):500-510.

English AW, Meador W, Carrasco DI (2005) Neurotrophin-4/5 is required for the early growth of regenerating axons in peripheral nerves. Eur J Neurosci. 21(10):2624-2634.

English AW, Cucoranu D, Mulligan A, Sabatier M (2009) Treadmill training enhances axon regeneration in injured mouse peripheral nerves without increased loss of topographic specificity. J Comp Neurol. 517(2):245-255.

English AW, Wilhelm JC, Sabatier MJ (2011) Enhancing recovery from peripheral nerve injury using treadmill training. Ann Anat. 193(4): 354-361.

Fenrich K, Gordon T (2004) Canadian Association of Neuroscience review: axonal regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems--current issues and advances. Can J Neurol Sci. 31(2):142-156.

Ferri CC, Moore FA, Bisby MA (1998) Effects of facial nerve injury on mouse motoneurons lacking the p75 low-affinity neurotrophin receptor. J Neurobiol. 34(1):1-9.

Fey A, Schachner M, Irintchev A (2010) A Novel Motion Analysis Approach Reveals Late Recovery in C57BL/6 Mice and Deficits in NCAM-Deficient Mice after Sciatic Nerve Crush. J Neurotrauma. 27(5):815-28.

Franz CK, Rutishauser U, Rafuse VF (2005) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule is necessary for selective targeting of regenerating motor neurons. J Neurosci. 25(8):2081-2091.

Franz CK, Rutishauser U, Rafuse VF (2008) Intrinsic neuronal properties control selective targeting of regenerating motoneurons. Brain. 131(Pt 6):1492-1505.

Frisén J (1997) Determinants of axonal regeneration. Histol Histopathol. 12(3):857-868.

Frisén J, Verge VM, Fried K, Risling M, Persson H, Trotter J, Hökfelt T, Lindholm D (1993) Characterization of glial trkB receptors: differential response to injury in the central and peripheral nervous systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 90(11):4971-4975.

Frostick SP, Yin Q, Kemp GJ (1998) Schwann cells, neurotrophic factors, and peripheral nerve regeneration. Microsurgery. 18(7):397-405.

Fryer RH, Kaplan DR, Kromer LF (1997) Truncated trkB receptors on nonneuronal cells inhibit BDNF-induced neurite outgrowth in vitro. Exp Neurol. 148(2):616-627.

Fu SY, Gordon T (1997) The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. Mol Neurobiol. 14(1-2):67-116.

Funakoshi H, Frisén J, Barbany G, Timmusk T, Zachrisson O, VergeVM, Persson H (1993) Differential expression of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors after axotomy of the sciatic nerve. J Cell Biol. 123(2):455-465.

Geremia NM, Gordon T, Brushart TM, Al-Majed AA, Verge VMK (2007) Electrical stimulation promotes sensory neuron regeneration and growth-associated gene expression. Exp Neurol. 205(2):347-359.

Geuna S, Raimondo S, Ronchi G, Scipio FD, Tos P, Czaja K, Fornaro M (2009) Chapter 3: Histology of the peripheral nerve and changes occurring during nerve regeneration. Int Rev Neurobiol. 87:27-46.

Götz R, Köster R, Winkler C, Raulf F, Lottspeich F, Schartl M, Thoenen H (1994) Neurotrophin-6 is a new member of the nerve growth factor family. Nature. 372(6503):266-269.

Gordon T (2009) The role of neurotrophic factors in nerve regeneration. Neurosurg Focus. 26(2):E3.

Gordon T, Sulaiman O, Boyd JG (2003) Experimental strategies to promote functional recovery after peripheral nerve injuries. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 8(4):236-250.

Gordon T, Brushart TM, Amirjani N, Chan KM (2007) The potential of electrical stimulation to promote functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury--comparisons between rats and humans. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 100:3-11.

Gordon T, Brushart TM, Chan KM (2008) Augmenting nerve regeneration with electrical stimulation. Neurol Res. 30(10):1012-1022.

Gordon T, Sulaiman OAR, Ladak A (2009 a) Chapter 24: Electrical stimulation for improving nerve regeneration: where do we stand? Int Rev Neurobiol. 87:433-444.

Gordon T, Udina E, Verge VMK, de Chaves EIP (2009 b) Brief electrical stimulation accelerates axon regeneration in the peripheral nervous system and promotes sensory axon regeneration in the central nervous system. Motor Control. 13(4):412-441.

Gordon T, Amirjani N, Edwards DC, Chan KM (2010) Brief post-surgical electrical stimulation accelerates axon regeneration and muscle reinnervation without affecting the functional measures in carpal tunnel syndrome patients. Exp Neurol. 223(1):192-202.

Guntinas-Lichius O, Hundeshagen G, Paling T, Angelov DN (2007 a) Impact of different types of facial nerve reconstruction on the recovery of motor function: an experimental study in adult rats. Neurosurgery. 61(6):1276-83; discussion 1283-5.

Guntinas-Lichius O, Hundeshagen G, Paling T, Streppel M, Grosheva M, Irintchev A, Skouras E, Alvanou A, Angelova SK, Kuerten S, Sinis N, Dunlop SA, Angelov DN (2007 b) Manual stimulation of facial muscles improves functional recovery after hypoglossal-facial anastomosis and interpositional nerve grafting of the facial nerve in adult rats. Neurobiol Dis. 28(1):101-112.

Guseva D, Angelov DN, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2009) Ablation of adhesion molecule L1 in mice favours Schwann cell proliferation and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. Brain. 132(Pt 8):2180-2195.

Hallböök F, Ibáñez CF, Persson H (1991) Evolutionary studies of the nerve growth factor family reveal a novel member abundantly expressed in Xenopus ovary. Neuron. 6(5):845-858.

Hammarberg H, Piehl F, Risling M, Cullheim S (2000) Differential regulation of trophic factor receptor mRNAs in spinal motoneurons after sciatic nerve transection and ventral root avulsion in the rat. J Comp Neurol. 426(4):587-601.

Hart AM, Terenghi G, Wiberg M (2008) Neuronal death after peripheral nerve injury and experimental strategies for neuroprotection. Neurol Res. 30(10):999-1011.

Hayashi A, Moradzadeh A, Hunter DA, Kawamura DH, Puppala VK, Tung THH, Mackinnon SE, Myckatyn TM (2007) Retrograde labeling in peripheral nerve research: it is not all black and white. J Reconstr Microsurg. 23(7):381-389.

Heumann R, Lindholm D, Bandtlow C, Meyer M, Radeke MJ, Misko TP, Shooter E, Thoenen H (1987) Differential regulation of mRNA encoding nerve growth factor and its receptor in rat sciatic nerve during development, degeneration, and regeneration: role of macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 84(23):8735-8739.

Hinkle L, McCaig CD, Robinson KR (1981) The direction of growth of differentiating neurones and myoblasts from frog embryos in an applied electric field. J Physiol. 314:121-135.

Huang EJ, Reichardt LF (2003) Trk receptors: roles in neuronal signal transduction. Annu Rev Biochem. 72:609-642.

Huang J, Hu X, Lu L, Ye Z, Wang Y, Luo Z (2009) Electrical stimulation accelerates motor functional recovery in autograft-repaired 10 mm femoral nerve gap in rats. J Neurotrauma. 26:1805-1813.

Irintchev A (2011) Potentials and limitations of peripheral nerve injury models in rodents with particular reference to the femoral nerve. Ann Anat. 193(4): 276-285.

Irintchev A, Simova O, Eberhardt KA, Morellini F, Schachner M (2005) Impacts of lesion severity and tyrosine kinase receptor B deficiency on functional outcome of femoral nerve injury assessed by a novel single-frame motion analysis in mice. Eur J Neurosci. 22(4):802-808.

Irintchev A, Angelov DN, Guntinas-Lichius O (2010) Regeneration of the facial nerve in comparison to other peripheral nerves : from bench to bedside. HNO. 58(5): 426-432.

Kaplan DR, Hempstead BL, Martin-Zanca D, Chao MV, Parada LF (1991 a) The trk proto-oncogene product: a signal transducing receptor for nerve growth factor. Science. 252(5005):554-558.

Kaplan DR, Martin-Zanca D, Parada LF (1991 b) Tyrosine phosphorylation and tyrosine kinase activity of the trk proto-oncogene product induced by NGF. Nature. 350(6314):158-160.

Kaplan DR, Miller FD (2000) Neurotrophin signal transduction in the nervous system. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 10(3):381-391.

Kerns JM, Lucchinetti C (1992) Electrical field effects on crushed nerve regeneration. Exp Neurol. 117(1):71-80.

Kerns JM, Pavkovic IM, Fakhouri AJ, Wickersham KL, Freeman JA (1987) An experimental implant for applying a DC electrical field to peripheral nerve. J Neurosci Methods. 19(3):217-223.

Kerns JM, Fakhouri AJ, Weinrib HP, Freeman JA (1991) Electrical stimulation of nerve regeneration in the rat: the early effects evaluated by a vibrating probe and electron microscopy. Neuroscience. 40(1):93-107.

Kiryakova S, Söhnchen J, Grosheva M, Schuetz U, Marinova T, Dzhupanova R, Sinis N, Hübbers CU, Skouras E, Ankerne J, Fries JWU, Irintchev A, Dunlop SA, Angelov DN (2010) Recovery of whisking function promoted by manual stimulation of the vibrissal muscles after facial nerve injury requires insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1). Exp Neurol. 222(2):226-234.

Klein R, Parada LF, Coulier F, Barbacid M (1989) trkB, a novel tyrosine protein kinase receptor expressed during mouse neural development. EMBO J. 8(12):3701-3709.

Klein R, Jing SQ, Nanduri V, O'Rourke E, Barbacid M (1991 a) The trk proto-oncogene encodes a receptor for nerve growth factor. Cell. 65(1):189-197.

Klein R, Nanduri V, Jing SA, Lamballe F, Tapley P, Bryant S, Cordon-Cardo C, Jones KR, Reichardt LF, Barbacid M (1991 b) The trkB tyrosine protein kinase is a receptor for brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3. Cell. 66(2):395-403.

Klein R, Lamballe F, Bryant S, Barbacid M (1992) The trkB tyrosine protein kinase is a receptor for neurotrophin-4. Neuron. 8(5):947-956.

Klein R, Smeyne RJ, Wurst W, Long LK, Auerbach BA, Joyner AL, Barbacid M (1993) Targeted disruption of the trkB neurotrophin receptor gene results in nervous system lesions and neonatal death. Cell. 75(1):113-122.

Kobayashi NR, Bedard AM, Hincke MT, Tetzlaff W (1996) Increased expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat facial motoneurons after axotomy. Eur J Neurosci. 8(5):1018-1029.

Koliatsos VE, Clatterbuck RE, Winslow JW, Cayouette MH, Price DL (1993) Evidence that brain-derived neurotrophic factor is a trophic factor for motor neurons in vivo. Neuron. 10(3):359-367.

Kotulska K, Larysz-Brysz M, Marcol W, Grajkowska W, Józwiak S, Lewin-Kowalik J (2006 a) The role of trkB receptor in the formation of post-traumatic neuroma. Folia Neuropathol. 44(3):221-227.

Kotulska K, Larysz-Brysz M, Marcol W, Malinowska I, Matuszek I, Grajkowska W, Lewin-Kowalik J (2006 b) TrkB deficiency increases survival and regeneration of spinal motoneurons after axotomy in mice. Folia Neuropathol. 44(4):251-256.

Kotulska K, Larysz-Brysz M, Marcol W, Józwiak J, Grajkowska W, Lewin-Kowalik J (2007) The influence of trkB deficiency on long-term outcome of peripheral nerve injury in mice. Folia Neuropathol. 45(2):82-92.

Lai KO, Fu WY., Ip FC, Ip NY (1998) Cloning and expression of a novel neurotrophin, NT-7, from carp. Mol Cell Neurosci. 11(1-2):64-76.

Lamballe F, Klein R, Barbacid M (1991) trkC, a new member of the trk family of tyrosine protein kinases, is a receptor for neurotrophin-3. Cell. 66(5):967-979.

Leibrock J, Lottspeich F, Hohn A, Hofer M, Hengerer B, Masiakowski P, Thoenen H, Barde YA (1989) Molecular cloning and expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Nature. 341(6238):149-152.

Lundborg G (2003) Richard P. Bunge memorial lecture. Nerve injury and repair—a challenge to the plastic brain. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 8(4):209-226.

Lundborg G, Rosén B (2007) Hand function after nerve repair. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 189(2):207-217.

Lykissas MG, Batistatou AK, Charalabopoulos KA, Beris AE (2007) The role of neurotrophins in axonal growth, guidance, and regeneration. Curr Neurovasc Res. 4(2):143-151.

Malin D, Sonnenberg-Riethmacher E, Guseva D, Wagener R, Aszódi A, Irintchev A, Riethmacher D (2009) The extracellular-matrix protein matrilin 2 participates in peripheral nerve regeneration. J Cell Sci. 122(Pt 7):995-1004.

Maness PF, Schachner M (2007) Neural recognition molecules of the immunoglobulin superfamily: signaling transducers of axon guidance and neuronal migration. Nat Neurosci 10(1):19-26.

Martini R, Schachner M (1986) Immunoelectron microscopic localization of neural cell adhesion molecules (L1, N-CAM, and MAG) and their shared carbohydrate epitope and myelin basic protein in developing sciatic nerve. J Cell Biol. 103(6 Pt 1):2439-2448.

Martini R, Xin Y, Schmitz B, Schachner M (1992) The L2/HNK-1 Carbohydrate Epitope is Involved in the Preferential Outgrowth of Motor Neurons on Ventral Roots and Motor Nerves. Eur J Neurosci. 4(7):628-639.

Martini R, Schachner M, Brushart TM (1994) The L2/HNK-1 carbohydrate is preferentially expressed by previously motor axon-associated Schwann cells in reinnervated peripheral nerves. J Neurosci. 14(11 Pt 2):7180-7191.

Mehanna A, Mishra B, Kurschat N, Schulze C, Bian S, Loers G, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2009) Polysialic acid glycomimetics promote myelination and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury in mice. Brain. 132(Pt 6):1449-1462.

Mehanna A, Jakovcevski I., Acar A, Xiao M, Loers G, Rougon G, Irintchev A, Schachner M (2010) Polysialic acid glycomimetic promotes functional recovery and plasticity after spinal cord injury in mice. Mol Ther. 18(1):34-43.

Meyer M, Matsuoka I, Wetmore C, Olson L, Thoenen H (1992) Enhanced synthesis of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the lesioned peripheral nerve: different mechanisms are responsible for the regulation of BDNF and NGF mRNA. J Cell Biol. 119(1):45-54.

Middlemas DS, Lindberg RA, Hunter T (1991) trkB, a neural receptor protein-tyrosine kinase: evidence for a full-length and two truncated receptors. Mol Cell Biol. 11(1):143-153.

Morris JH, Hudson AR, Weddell G (1972) A study of degeneration and regeneration in the divided rat sciatic nerve based on electron microscopy. 3. Changes in the axons of the proximal stump. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat. 124(2):131-164.

Nix WA, Hopf HC (1983) Electrical stimulation of regenerating nerve and its effect on motor recovery. Brain Res. 272(1): 21-25.

Oppenheim RW, Yin QW, Prevette D, Yan Q (1992) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor rescues developing avian motoneurons from cell death. Nature. 360(6406):755-757.

Pockett S, Gavin RM (1985) Acceleration of peripheral nerve regeneration after crush injury in rat. Neurosci Lett. 59(2):221-224.

Politis MJ, Zanakis MF, Albala BJ (1988) Facilitated regeneration in the rat peripheral nervous system using applied electric fields. J Trauma. 28(9):1375-1381. Reichardt LF (2006) Neurotrophin-regulated signalling pathways. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 361(1473):1545-1564.

Robinson LR (2000) Traumatic injury to peripheral nerves. Muscle Nerve. 23(6):863-873.

Rusovan A, Kanje M, Mild KH (1992) The stimulatory effect of magnetic fields on regeneration of the rat sciatic nerve is frequency dependent. Exp Neurol. 117(1):81-84.

Rutishauser U (2008) Polysialic acid in the plasticity of the developing and adult vertebrate nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci. 9(1):26-35.

Sabatier MJ, Redmon N, Schwartz G, English AW (2008) Treadmill training promotes axon regeneration in injured peripheral nerves. Exp Neurol. 211(2):489-493.

Schiebler TH (2005) Anatomie. Spinger Verlag, Heidelberg, 9. Auflage, pp. 83.

Schmued LC, Fallon JH (1986) Fluoro-Gold: a new fluorescent retrograde axonal tracer with numerous unique properties. Brain Res. 377(1):147-154.

Sebert ME, Shooter EM (1993) Expression of mRNA for neurotrophic factors and their receptors in the rat dorsal root ganglion and sciatic nerve following nerve injury. J Neurosci Res. 36(4):357-367.

Sendtner M, Holtmann B, Kolbeck R, Thoenen H, Barde YA (1992) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor prevents the death of motoneurons in newborn rats after nerve section. Nature. 360(6406):757-759.

Seo TB, Oh MJ, You BG, Kwon KB., Chang IA, Yoon JH, Lee CY, Namgung U (2009) ERK1/2-mediated Schwann cell proliferation in the regenerating sciatic nerve by treadmill training. J Neurotrauma. 26(10):1733-1744.

Simon M, Porter R, Brown R, Coulton GR, Terenghi G (2003) Effect of NT-4 and BDNF delivery to damaged sciatic nerves on phenotypic recovery of fast and slow muscles fibres. Eur J Neurosci. 18(9):2460-2466.

Simova O, Irintchev A, Mehanna A, Liu J, Dihné M, Bächle D, Sewald N, Loers G, Schachner M (2006) Carbohydrate mimics promote functional recovery after peripheral nerve repair. Ann Neurol. 60(4):430-437.

Sisken BF, Kanje M, Lundborg G, Herbst E, Kurtz W (1989) Stimulation of rat sciatic nerve regeneration with pulsed electromagnetic fields. Brain Res. 485(2):309-316.

Skouras E, Merkel D, Grosheva M, Angelova SK, Schiffer G, Thelen U, Kaidoglou K, Sinis N, Igelmund P, Dunlop SA, Pavlov S, Irintchev A, Angelov DN (2009) Manual stimulation, but not acute electrical stimulation prior to reconstructive surgery, improves functional recovery after facial nerve injury in rats. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 27(3):237-251.

Song XY, Zhou FHH, Zhong JH, Wu LLY, Zhou XF (2006) Knockout of p75(NTR) impairs re-myelination of injured sciatic nerve in mice. J Neurochem. 96(3):833-842.

Stoll G, Jander S, Myers RR (2002) Degeneration and regeneration of the peripheral nervous system: from Augustus Waller's observations to neuroinflammation. Peripher Nerv Syst. 7(1):13-27.

Valls-Sole J, Castillo CD, Casanova-Molla J, Costa J (2011) Clinical consequences of reinnervation disorders after focal peripheral nerve lesions. Clin Neurophysiol. 122(2):219-228.

Wan L, Zhang S, Xia R, Ding W (2010 a) Short-term low-frequency electrical stimulation enhanced remyelination of injured peripheral nerves by inducing the promyelination effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on Schwann cell polarization. J Neurosci Res. 88(12):2578-2587.

Wan LD, Xia R, Ding WL (2010 b) Electrical stimulation enhanced remyelination of injured sciatic nerves by increasing neurotrophins. Neuroscience. 169(3):1029-1038.

Xu B, Gottschalk W, Chow A, Wilson RI, Schnell E, Zang K, Wang D, Nicoll RA, Lu B, Reichardt LF (2000 a) The role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor receptors in the mature hippocampus: modulation of long-term potentiation through a presynaptic mechanism involving TrkB. J Neurosci. 20(18):6888-6897.

Xu B, Zang K, Ruff NL, Zhang YA, McConnell SK, Stryker MP, Reichardt LF (2000 b) Cortical degeneration in the absence of neurotrophin signaling: dendritic retraction and neuronal loss after removal of the receptor TrkB. Neuron. 26(1):233-245.

Yan Q, Elliott J, Snider WD (1992) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor rescues spinal motor neurons from axotomy-induced cell death. Nature. 360(6406):753-755.

Yano H, Chao MV (2000) Neurotrophin receptor structure and interactions. Pharm Acta Helv. 74(2-3):253-260.

Yin Q, Kemp GJ, Yu LG, Wagstaff SC, Frostick SP (2001) Expression of Schwann cellspecific proteins and low-molecular-weight neurofilament protein during regeneration of sciatic nerve treated with neurotrophin-4. Neuroscience. 105(3):779-783.

Zhang JY, Luo XG, Xian CJ, Liu ZH, Zhou XF (2000) Endogenous BDNF is required for myelination and regeneration of injured sciatic nerve in rodents. Eur J Neurosci. 12(12):4171-4180.

8. Abbreviations

8. Abbreviations

BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
cb	Cutaneous branch
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
cm	Centimetres
ct	Common nerve trunk
e.g.	Example given
FBA	Foot-base angle
FBA _{reinn}	postoperative FBA value at any time-point of
	reinnervation
FBA_0	FBA value prior to operation and electrical
	stimulation
Fig.	Figure
g	Gram
GAP-43	Growth-associated protein 43
GDNF	Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor
h	Hour
HNK-1	Human natural killer cell glycan 1
HTA	Heels-tail angle
HTA _{reinn}	postoperative HTA value at any time-point of
	reinnervation
HTA ₀	HTA value prior to operation and electrical
	stimulation
Hz	Hertz
kD	Kilodalton
kg	Kilogram
Μ	Molar
mb	Muscle branch
8. Abbreviations

mg	Milligram
μl	Microlitre
mm	Millimetre
μm	Micrometre
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
ms	Millisecond
NCAM	Neural cell adhesion molecule
NGF	Nerve growth factor
nm	Nanometre
NT-3	Neurotrophin-3
NT-4/5	Neurotrophin-4/5
NT-6	Neurotrophin-6
NT-7	Neurotrophin-7
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
рН	Potential of Hydrogen
PLR	Limb protraction length ratio
PMR	Preferential motor reinnervation
PSA	α2,8 Polysialic acid
РТВ	Phosphotyrosine binding
p75 ^{ntr}	P75 neurotrophin receptor
RAG	Regeneration associated genes
RI	Recovery index
SEM	Standard errors of mean
SFMA	Single-frame motion analysis
SH2	Src-homology-2
trk	Tyrosine receptor kinase
trkA	Tyrosine receptor kinase A
trkB	Tyrosine receptor kinase B
trkC	Tyrosine receptor kinase C
V	Volt

8. Abbreviations

X _{reinn}	Value at any time-point of reinnervation
X _{den}	Value during the state of denervation (7 days
	after injury)
X _{pre}	Value prior to operation and electrical
	stimulation
ZMNH	Zentrum für Molekulare Neurobiologie Hamburg
°C	Degree Celsius
%	Percent

9. Acknowledgements

Für die Überlassung des Themas dieser Doktorarbeit und die Bereitstellung des Arbeitsplatzes danke ich ganz besonders meiner Doktormutter Frau Prof. Dr. Melitta Schachner, der Direktorin des Instituts für Biosynthese neuraler Strukturen des Zentrums für Molekulare Neurobiologie (ZMNH).

Meinem Betreuer, Herrn PD Dr. Andrey Irintchev, danke ich für seine Unterstützung und die Einführung in die Klarheit der biomedizinischen Wissenschaft sowie die kritische Durchsicht und Kommentierung dieser Arbeit trotz der zum Ende großen räumlichen Trennung.

Des weiteren möchte ich mich bei den vielen Kollegen des ZMNH für Ihre Hilfsbereitschaft, Freundlichkeit und Selbstverständlichkeit bedanken, mit der ich dort aufgenommen worden bin. Für Ihre Unterstützung möchte ich besonders Ali Mehanna und Elena Sivukhina danken, die stets ein offenes Ohr für kleine und größere Probleme hatten. Ebenfalls danken möchte ich Emanuela Szpotowicz für Ihre technische Unterstützung.

Ohne meine kleine und große Familie wäre diese Arbeit nie zu einem Ende gekommen. Ich weiß Ihr habt dafür auf so manches verzichtet. Ich danke Euch für Eure Geduld und Unterstützung.

10. Curriculum Vitae

10. Curriculum Vitae

Entfällt aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen.

11. Eidesstattliche Versicherung

11. Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die aus den Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Marvin Henze